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Petitioner/Defendant-Appellant Shane Mark (Petitioner)

applied for a writ of certiorari on August 27, 2009, to review

the judgment of the Intermediate Court of Appeals (ICA) filed on
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May 29, 2009, pursuant to its May 8, 2009 published opinion
(opinion)! affirming in its entirety the August 2, 2004 Judgment
in Cr. No. 03-1-0495 (Mark I) filed by the first circuit court
(the court)?; and affirming the court’s  August 2, 2004 Judgment
in Cr. No. 03-1-0496 (Mark II) with regard to the merits of the

convictions but vacating the extended term sentences, and

remanding Mark II to the court. See State v. Mark, 120 Hawai‘i
499, 210 P.3d 22 (App. 2009). We hold that (1) for Petitioner’s
convictions of attempted assault in the second degree, Hawai'i
Revised Statutes (HRS) §§ 705-500 (1993) and 707-711 (1993) in
Mark I, murder in the second degree, (HRS) § 707-701.5 (1993) and
attempted assault in the first degree, HRS §§ 705-500 and 707-710
" (1993) in Mark II, jury instruction No. 65 with regard to Mark T
and Mark II relating to the defense of use of force in defense of
others pursuant to HRS § 703-305 (1993) was erroneous, inasmuch
as it improperly includéd elements relating to the defense of
defense of self, HRS § 703-304 (1993 & Supp. 2003); however,

(2) the error was harmless because there was no evidence in the
record to support a finding that, under the circumstances as a
person would reasonably believe them to be, Petitioner was
justified in using force in defense of others; (3) although there

was concurrent representation of Petitioner and a hostile witness

i The opinion was authored by then-Chief Judge Mark E. Recktenwald
and joined by Associate Judges Craig H. Nakamura and Katherine G. Leonard.

2 The Honorable Karen S.S. Ahn presided.
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by the Office bf the Public Defender (OPD or the OPD) in a matter
unrelated to Petitioner’s trial, the concurrent representation
ended and OfD withdrew as the witness’s counsel before an actual
conflict arose and, thus, retrial is not necessary;
(4) Petitioner’s argument that he was denied the right to a fair
trial due to prejudicial publicity, jury taint, and prosecutorial
misconduct is incorrect inasmuch the record contains no evidence
to support such a conclusion; and (5) on remand the court may
empanel a jury to consider whether Petitioner should be sentenced
to an extended term either pursuant to the judicially amended
version of the extended‘term sentencing statute or pursuant to
Act 1 of the Second Special Session of the 2007 legislature. See
2007 Haw. Sess. L. (Second Special Session) Act 1 at 1.

I.

The following essential matters, some vérbatim, are
from the record and the submissions of the parties.

A.

In summary, with respect to Mark I, in January of 2003,
Petitioner purchased a camera from Kimo and John Piko (Piko).
Petitioner then sold the camera to his friénd, Russell Kimura
(Kimura), who, a few days later, called Petitioner to tell him
that the camera did not work. After informing Kimo that the
camera was broken, Kimo agreed to return the money in exchange
for the camera. On February 1, 2003, Petitioner, along with his

pregnant girlfriend Leslie Martin (Martin), drove to a meeting at
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a parking lot in order to complete the exchange. Although
Petitioner had planned on meeting Kimo at the meeting, Piko ‘and
Denny Paikai (Paikai) arrived instead. Eventually, Kimura and
his girlfriend Carle Enosara arrived with fhe camera.

Conflicting testimony was adduced at trial as to what
happened next. The witnesses agreed, however, that a
disagreement ensued regarding a box that contained the camera,
initially held by Petitioner, which eventually ended up in Piko’s
possession. Petitioner testified that at that point “he took out
the gun, pointed it above Piko’s head and fired off a round into
the air.” According to Petitioner, he “was standing by the car
right next to {Martin]. She was sitting oﬁ the driver’s side.
Paikai was moving to the front of the car by the headlights.”
Petitioner “testified that he took the gun and reached over the
car and fired a single shot into Paikai’s leg. [Petitioner] said
he meant to shoot the leg and did not aim for the head or body.”

B.

In summary, with respect to Mark II, on March 4, 2003,
Petitioner, accompanied by Martin, went to a Baskin Robbins ice
cream store in Kapolei to meet his ex-girlfriend Melissa Sennett
(Sennett) and their daughter Shansy (Daughter). At the time,
Petitioner was wanted by police in connection with Mark T.
Operating on a tip from Sennett, police officers Glenn Gaspar
(Officer Gaspar) and Calvin Sung (Officer Sung), both dressed in

plain clothes, entered Baskin Robbins and attempted to arrest
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Petitioner. While carrying out the arrest, a struggle ensued,
during which Petitioner fired three shots from his gun. Officer
Gaspar died:as a result of gunshot wounds from the struggle.

C.

1.

On March 6, 2003, two indictments were filed against
Petitionef. In the first indictment related to Mark I,
Petitioner was charged with one count of attempted murder in the
second degree of Piko (Count I), and one count of attempted
murder in the second degree of Paikai (Count II), HRS §§ 705-

500,3 707-701.5,* and 706-656 (1993 & Supp. 2003),° two counts of

3 HRS § 705-500 states in relevant part:

(1) A person is ghilty of an attempt to commit a
crime if the person:

(b) . Intentionally engages in conduct which, under
the circumstances as the person believes them to
be, constitutes a substantial step in a course
of conduct intended to culminate in the person's
commission of the crime.

(2) When causing a particular result is an element
of the crime, a person is guilty of an attempt to commit the
crime if, acting with the state of mind required to
establish liability with respect to the attendant
circumstances specified in the definition of the crime, the
person intentionally engages in conduct which is a
substantial step in a course of conduct intended or known to
cause such a result.

4 HRS § 707-701.5 provides as follows:

(1) Except as provided in section 707-701, a person
commits the offense of murder in the second degree if the
person intentionally or knowingly causes the death of
another person.

(2) Murder in the second degree is a felony for
which the defendant shall be sentenced to imprisonment as
provided in section 706-656.

® ° HRS § 706-656 involves the sentencing of persons “for first and
second degree murder and attempted first and second degree murder” and, thus,
(continued...)
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carrying, using or threatening to use a firearm in the commission
of a separate felony, HRS §§ 134-6(a) (Supp. 2003)° aﬁd 134-6(e)
(Supp. 2003)7 (Counts III and IV), and one count of ownership or
possession prohibited of any firearm or ammunition by a person
convicted of certain criﬁés, HRS §§ 134-7(b) (Supp. 2003)% and
134-7 (h) (Supp. 2003)° (Count V).

On November 7, 2003, Petitioner pled no contest to
Count V in Mark TI.

2.

In the second indictment related to Mark II, Petitioner

was charged with the offense of murder in the first degree of

Officer Gaspar, HRS §§ 707-701(1) (b) (1993 & Supp. 2003) 1 and

5(...continued)
was not technically “violated” by Petitioner.

6 HRS § 134-6(a) provides that

[i]t shall be unlawful for a person to knowingly carry on
the person or have within the person’s immediate control or
intentionally use or threaten to use a firearm while engaged
in the commission of a separate felony, whether the firearm
was loaded or not, and whether operable or not[.]

7 HRS § 134-6(e) provides in relevant part that “[a]ny person
violating subsection (a) or (b) shall be guilty of a class A felony.”

8 HRS § 134-7(b) states that “[n]o person who is under indictment
for, . . . or has been convicted in this state or elsewhere of having

committed a felony, or any crime of violence, or an illegal sale of any drug
shall own, possess, or control any firearm or ammunition therefor.”

° HRS § 134-7(h) provides that “[a]lny person violating subsection
(a) or (b) shall be guilty of a class C felony; provided that any felon
violating subsection (b) shall be guilty of a class B felony.”

1o HRS § 707-701(1) (b) states that “[a] person commits the offense of
murder in the first degree if the person intentionally or knowingly causes the
death of . . . [a] law enforcement officer, judge, or prosecutor arising out

of the performance of official duties[.]”
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706-656 (Count I), one count of attempted murder in the first
degree of Officer Sung, HRS §§ 705-500 and 707-701(1) (a)'' (Count
IT), one count of carrying, using, or threatening to use a
firearm in the commission of a separate felony, HRS §§ 134-6(a)
and 134-6(e) (Count III), one count of possession of any firearm
by a person convicted of certain crimes, HRS §§ 134-7(b) and 134-
7(h) (Count 1IV), one count of promoting a dangerous drug in the
third degree,.HRS § 712-1243 (1993 & Supp. 2003)* (Count V), and
one count of unlawful use of drug paraphernalia, HRS § 329-
43.5(a) (1993)'* (Count VI).

On November 7, 2003, Petitioner pled no contest to
Counts IV, V, and VI in Mark ITI.

D.

1.

Mark I and Mark II were consolidated “at [Petitioner’s]

1 Pursuant to HRS § 707-701(1) (a), “[a] person commits the offense
of murder in the first degree if the person intentionally or knowingly causes
the death of . . . [m]ore than one person in the same or separate incident{.]”

12 HRS § 712-1243(1) provides in relevant part that “[a] person

commits the offense of promoting a dangerous drug in the third degree if the
person knowingly possesses any dangerous drug in any amount.”

13 HRS § 329-43.5(a) states as follows: .

(a) It is unlawful for any person to use, or to
possess with intent to use, drug paraphernalia to plant,
propagate, cultivate, grow, harvest, manufacture, compound,
convert, produce, process, prepare, test, analyze, pack,
repack, store, contain, conceal, inject, ingest, inhale, or
otherwise introduce into the human body a controlled
substance in violation of this chapter. Any person who
violates this section is guilty of a class C felony and upon
conviction may be imprisoned pursuant to section 706-660
and, if appropriate as provided in section 706-641, fined
pursuant to section 706-640.

7
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request, and they were tried [by] a jury in December 2003.”

Mark, 120 Hawai‘i at 507, 210 P.3d at 30. In regard to Mark I,
Petitioner testified that after he arrived in the parking lot, he
looked through the rear window of his car and saw Piko and Paikai
approaching. Petitioner “thought they was going to do something
to us” and he felt “[plretty frightened . . . because their looks
was intimidating and they was pretty big, and it’s just their
attitudes.” At that point, Petitioner “grabbed the gun from the
back seat and [] put it in [his] waist” “for protection, safety,”
although Petitioner did not plan to use the gun. Petitionér said
he was worried about safety “[blecause [Martin] was in the car
and she was pregnant, and also my friend’s girlfriend was right
there.”

Petitioner testified that he was standing between the
cars while Piko and Paikai approached him from opposite
directions. According to Petitioner, Piko “whack[ed]
[Petitioner’s] car pretty hard with his one hand” and then
“turned towards me and he told me we just going take the camera
away from you, what you going do?” Petitioner then “gave [Piko]
the camera and [] said; here, you can have it.” According to
Petitioner, Piko then “smiled and he was about to put the camera
down on the trunk, and he turned towards me and he said that we
just going take everything from you.” Petitioner took this to
mean that “we was being robbed[,]” and he felt “[plretty scared”

because “[t]lhe guys was going trap me between the two cars and
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beat me up.” Petitioner stated that he was also afraid for
Martin and his ﬁnborn child because “[s]he would see these guys
beating me up, and she would come out and try and stop them.”
Petitioner then pulled out his gun intending to scare Piko and
Paikai away. He “pointed it above [Piko’s] head and [] shot a
round,” at which point Piko ran off.

After Petitioner lost sight of Piko, he turned to look
for Paikai. Petitioner saw him “kneeling dbwn, and he washcoming
around [Petitioner’s] car tbwards [Petitioner].” Petitioner
“[flelt 1like . . . [Paikai] might have a weapon or something([,]”
and he “was real scared[.]” Petitioner “reached over the car,
and when [Paikai] was about to turn the corner by the headlights
by the front fender, [Petitioner] shot him in the leg.”
Petitioner “mean[t] to shoot his leg” in order “to stop him.”

As to Mark II, on direct examination, Petitioner
testified that he went to Baskin Robbins with Martin in order to
meet Daughter, Sennett, and Sennett’s boyfriend,!! later
identified as John Kortz (Kortz). Petitioner had a gun in his
possession that he was carrying . . . with [him] everywhere.”
Petitioner entered Baskin Robbins, and saw Daughter, Sennett, and
Kortz. He went up to Daughter and patted her on the back.
Petitioner stated that as he was standing behind Daughter, who

was sitting on a chair, he “pulled out [a] necklace and was going

1 Petitioner initially referred to Sennett’s boyfriend as “Scott,”
but later in his testimony referred to the same person as “John Kortz.”
“Scott” was John Kortz’s middle name, as well as his nickname.

9
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to put it around her neck.” When asked if Petitioner was able to
“get the necklace on her neck[,]” Petitioner replied “no,” and
stated that “[alt that time, these two guys was trying to grab

”

me.

According to Petitioner, he did not see the “two guys”
before they tried to grab him, and that he heard them say, "“Put
your hands up, put your hands up.” Once the men had grabbed
Petitioner, he “responded” by “[t]lr[ying] for get these guys off
of me . . . [blecause I didn’t know who they was.” Petitioner
stafed that he “had a feeling that they was going to pull me out
of the store” to “[t]ake me someplace and kill me.” Petitioner
testified that in response to the efforts of the two men to “move
me towards my daughter and out the door[,]” he “backed up” and
“took them as far away from my daughter as I could.” Petitioner
stated he was “[p]retty scared, because my daughter can get
hurt.” During fhe struggle, a third man came up behind
Petitioner and grabbed him in‘a “bear hug.” Petitioner then got
his right hand free, and grabbed the gun “[t]o get these guys off
of me.” Petitioner said, “I turned to one side like this, and
then I shot him one time.” Petitioner then “shot two more
times.”

According to Petitioner, had he known that the men
grabbing him were police, he “would have stopped and listened to
every command they told me . . . [b]ecause I would know that my

daughter them would be safe.” Petitioner stated that he “first

10
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leafn[ed] that the people that had grabbed [him] were police
officers . . . [al]ls they were picking [him] up and dragging [him]
out of the store.”

| Officer Sung testified that he and Officer Gaspar
entered the store and “[one] hundred percent positively ID’d
[Petitioner], and then we turned toward [Petitioner]” and lifted
up their shirts to display their police badges. Officer Sung
stated that Petitioner was “about eight to ten feet away” at the
time. He stated that “then I see [Petitioner] reaching for
something, and from my police training and experiences, usually
when they reaéh for something in their pocket, usually it means
weapon, so I'm telling [Petitioner] pull [sic] your hands up,
police, and then I kept on approaching [Petitioner].” Officer
Sung testified that Petitioner “was reaching toward his right
pants pocket[,]” “and that’s the reason why I told him ‘Put up
your hands, police.’”

According to Officer Sung, “[Officer Gasﬁar] reache[d]
over, he was using his —-- both of his hands, he grabbed. He’s
: )

using his left hand to grab [Petitioner’s] right wrist area, and
he was using his right hand to grab his left hand area, and then
I was trying to grab his elbow area to‘—— to restrain his right
arm.” Officer Sung stated that he was grabbing for Petitioner’s
right hand in order to stop Petitioner from “[r]eaching for any
kind of weapons, possibly gun or possibly knife, possibly harming

other people.” Officer Sung went on to describe the struggle,

11
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stating that Petitioner “was trying to break free of us, our
restraint, and then he was reaching something into his pocket.”

Petitioner was then able to get his hand free to grab
the gun, and Officer Sung saw it pointed at both him and Officer
Gaspar. As the struggle continued, Officer Sung “heard two
gunshots going off, like right after the other.” The group then
fell to the ground, and, according to Officer Sung, Petitioner
“tried to curl his arm, and then he was pointing the gun at me at
the same time[.]” Officer Sung testified that Petitioner pointed
the gun at him “at least two timés.” Officer Sung next Heard a
third detective say that he had taken Petitioner’s gun, and then
Officer Sung was able to handcuff Petitioner and place him under
arrest.

At that trial, the court gave jury instructions
regarding “the defense of another person,” as well as self-
defense, to Counts I-IV of Mark I and Counts I-III of Mark IT.

As pointed out by the ICA, “[t]lhe instructions were similar to
each other, with some exceptions that are not relevant to this
appeal.”!® Mark, 120 Hawai‘i at 522, 210 P.3d at 45. 1In his
Application, Petitioner takes issue with Jury Instruction Né.A65,
relating to a defense to the charge of mu;der in the first degree

(Count I in Mark II), which stated in part as follows:

[1] In Count [I] of [Mark II], if you unanimously find
that the prosecution has proven beyond a reasonable doubt

15 Petitioner did not disagree with this conclusion.

12
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all of the material elements of Murder in the First Degree,
or of the included offense of Murder in the Second Degree,
or of the included offense of Manslaughter based upon
reckless conduct, then you must consider whether the force
used by Defendant was justifiable based upon use of force in
defense of another person. .

[2] Justifiable use of force or deadly force in
defense of another person is a defense to the offenses of
Murder in the First Degree, Murder in the Second Degree, and
Manslaughter based upon reckless conduct. The burden is on
the prosecution to prove beyond a reasonable doubt that the
force used by the Defendant was not justifiable based upon
use of force in defense of another person. If you
unanimously find that the prosecution has not met its
burden, then you must find the Defendant not guilty as to
Count [I] of [Mark IT]. If you are not unanimous as to
whether the prosecution has met its burden, then a verdict
cannot be returned as to Count [I] of [Mark II].

[3] The use of force upon or toward another person is
justified to protect a third person when:

1. Under the circumstances as the Defendant

reasonably believed them to be, the third person would have
been justified in using such force to protect himself or
herself; and

2. The Defendant reasonably believed that his
intervention was immediately necessary to protect the third
person.

[4] The reasonableness of the Defendant’s belief that
the use of such protective force was immediately necessary
shall be determined from the viewpoint of a reasonable
person in the Defendant’s position under the circumstances
of which the Defendant was aware or as the Defendant
reasonably believed them to be.

[5] The third person would have been justified in
using force upon or toward [Officer Gaspar] if he or she
reasonably believed that such force was immediately
necessary to protect himself or herself on the present
occasion against the use of unlawful force by [Officer
Gaspar] .

[6] The third person would have been justified in
using deadly force upon or toward [Officer Gaspar] if he or
she reasonably believed that deadly force was immediately
necessary to protect himself or herself on the present
occasion against death, serious bodily injury, or
kidnapping.

[7] The use of deadly force is not justifiable
if the Defendant, with the intent of causing death or
serious bodily injury, provoked the use of force against

~himself in the same encounter, or [(b)] if the Defendant
knows that he can avoid the necessity of using such force
with complete safety by retreating. . . .

(Emphases added.) Petitioner did not object to Jury Instruction

No. 65.

13
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2.

On December 22, 2003, in regard to Mark I, the jury
returned the following verdict: Count I, no verdict on the
charge of attempted murder in the second degree of Piko; Count
II, Petitioner guilty of the included offense of attempted
assault in the second degrée of Paikai; Count III, no verdict on
the first of two charges of darrying, using or threatening to use
a firearm in the commission of a separate felony, Count IV,
Petitioner guilty on the éecond éharge of carrying, using, or
threatening to use a firearm in the commission of a separate
felony. Also on December 22, the jury returned the following
verdict in regard to Mark II: Count I, Petitioner guilty of
murder in the second degree of Officer Gaspar; Count II, no
verdict on the charge of attempted murder in the first degree of
Officer Sung} Count III, Petitioner guilty of carrying, using or
threatening to use a firearm in the commission of a separate
felony.

As ﬁo Counts I and III in Mark I and Count II in Mark
II, the court found “manifest necessity” and “set these cases for
retrial[.]” As to the four counts of which Petitioner was found
guilty, the court left “the sentencing date until after the
retriall[.]"”

On March 31, 2004, Respondent/Plaintiff-Appellee State
of Hawai‘i (Respondent or the prosecution) filed motions for

extended terms of imprisonment in Mark I and Mark II.

14
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E.
1.
On July 7, 2004, Petitioner’s second trial began as to

Counts I and III in Mark I and Count II in Mark II. On July 14,
2004, during the second trial, at a conference with the court out
of the presencé of the jury, Deputy Public Defender (DPD) Debra
Loy (Loy), who was representing Petitioner, engaged in the
following colloquy regarding the prosecution’s plan to put Piko

on the stand:

[LOY]: Your Honor, we have also been informed that []
Piko is in custody; and rather than have a question about
prior bad acts, we need to find out what that is. I have
not been able to find him in the records of the state
custody people. And, so, T need an offer of proof what he’s
serving time for.

THE COURT: How long have vyou known that [] Piko was
in custody?

[LOY]: This morning I had it confirmed. I thought []
Paikai was in custody, and he denied it, and he told me Piko

was.

THE COURT: Is [] Piko in custody?
[PROSECUTOR]: Well, Judge, I find it impossible to
believe that theyv don’t know that he’s in custodyv since

their office represented him in the last six months, in this
building, Jason.Burks [(Burks)], Deputy Public Defender,

which T think raises serious ethical problems in that
office. But they did it; they know it.

[LOY]: And you knew it all this time?
[PROSECUTOR]: No, no.
[LOY]: We haven’t known it.

(Emphases added.) Loy argued that “[i]f [Piko is] on probation
and we’re still representing him, we have a mistrial problem, and
we cannot cross-examine him.” However, the prosecutor argued
that “[tlhey can cross-examine him on anything[.]”

The discussion continued at length, with Loy explaining
that she felt there was an “ethical problem” related to

representing Petitioner and Piko at the same time, and the

15
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prosecutor arguing that no such problem existed. Loy argued that
“[t]he issue is related to [Petitioner’s] right to have
representation, full and fair representation by a person who has

no loyalty to anyone else, Judge.” The colloquy then resumed:

THE COURT: . . . I do not know, I will not know until
I look at the case law on this duty to defend and duty of
loyalty and whether in a big office like the Public
‘Defender’s Office that [sic] can be divided.

[LOY]: Well, [] Burks works in the same section I do.
We probably share the same secretary. I have to confirm
that.

THE COURT: Are you asking for a mistrial?
[LOY]: I'm asking for a mistrial.
THE COURT: Okay. We’ll take it under advisement.

We're going to have to excuse the jury, though.
[PROSECUTOR]: And we’re objecting, Your Honor.

(Emphases added.)

On July 20, 2004, Petitioner filed a Métion‘for
Mistrial and Motion to Withdraw as Counsel and to Appoiﬁt Other
Counsel (Petitioner’s Motion). Attached to Petitioner’s Motion
was a “Declaration of Counsel,” in which Loy explained that
(1) in November and December of 2003, she and [DPD] Teresa
Marshall (Marshall) represented Petitioner during his first
trial, (2) “[alt that time, neither [Loyj nor Marshall was aware
that [Piko] had been represented by the [OPD] in 2001 and 2002,
for forgery and drug charge([s] in which Piko was sentenced to
probation[,]” (3) “[iln April of 2004, although then unknown by.
[Loy] and Marshall, the [OPD], through another [DPD], represented
[Piko] in a Motion to Revoke Probation for the earlier [f]orgery
offense[,]1” (4) prior to July 14, 2004, when Loy sought an offer
of proof from the prosecution regarding Piko, “[she] and Marshall

were unaware . . . about the representation of [Piko,]”

le
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(5) “neither [Piko] nor [Petitioner] is willing to waive any
conflict of interest arising from their dual representation[,]”
(6) “[iln the current trial the defense is compelled to either
cross-examine [Piko] or to call and question him as an adverse
witness, using all available impeachment[,]” and “[Loy] would be
duty bound to use the information from the prior conviction and
any other impeachment she could find to adequately represent
[Petitioner] and yet bound not to adversely impact Piko.”

Loy declared that she had communicated with Charles
Hite (Hite) from the Office Qf Disciplinary Counsel, and that
“Hite gave an ‘informal opinion’ that the [OPD] had a conflict of
interest and must move for a mistrial and move to withdraw from
representing [Petitioner].” Loy concluded that the OPD “has a
conflict of interest which requires a mistrial and withdrawal
from representation of [Petitioner].”

In a Memorandum in Support of Petitioner’s Motion,
Petitioner argued that (1) in representing Petitioner, Loy would
be required to impeach Piko, which would be “‘directly adverse’
to [Piko’s] interest[,]” (2) the conflict of interest was not
remedied by the fact that Petitioner and Piko were represented by
different DPDs because under the Hawai‘i Rules of Professional
Conduct (HRPC), the OPD was “more akin to a ‘law firm’ than a

‘governmental agency’ under [HRPC] Rule 1.10([,]1”* (3) [t]lhe

16 HRPC Rule 1.10 states in relevant part:

(continued...)
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[OPD] does not have in place any ‘screens’ or procedures to allow
separate representation without conflict[,1” (4) the DPDs
represénting Petitioner and Piko “have the same secretary, the
same supervisor, and share investigators and messengers and
receptionists[,]” and (5) “the [DPDs] of the [OPD] are totally
integrated into one firm within the meaning of the [HRPC].”

On July 20, 2004, thercourt held a hearing on
Petitioner’s Motion. At the hearing, Petitioner’s witness
Timothy Ho (Ho), the Acting Chief Deputy Public Defender,

.
testified on cross—examination that DPDs shared client
information with one another because “it is as if we are one firm
and we can freely share that information among other attorneys
within that firm in order to help us prepare cases.” On July 21,
2004, the court orally denied Petitioner’s Motion. Additionally,
the court disqualified the OPD from further representing Piko.

On August 16, 2004, the court issued its “Findings of
Fact [(findings)], Conclusions of Law [(conclusions)], and Order

Denying [Petitioner’s] Consolidated Oral Motions for Mistrial and

16 (,..continued)

(a) While lawyers are associated in a firm, none of
them shall knowingly represent a client when any one of them
practicing alone would be prohibited from doing so by Rules
1.7, 1.8(c), 1.9 or 2.2.

(c) A firm disqualification prescribed by this rule
may be waived by the affected client by consent after
consultation.

(d) The disqualifications of Rules 1.7, 1.9(a),
-1.9(b), or 1.11(c) (1) shall not be imputed to government
lawyers provided the disqualified government lawyer has been
screened from participation in the matter.
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to Withdraw as Counsel.” 1In sum, the court found that

(1) “[n]either [] Burks nor the [OPD] have any matters pending
with regafd to Piko and the [OPD] has closed the file[,1]”

(2) “Loy had not learned of any secrets of Piko nor did she have
knowledge of any confidential attorney-client communications had
between Piko and [] Burks{[,]” (3) “[Petitioner’s] trial does not
involve either the same or any matter substantially related to
the facts and circumstances regarding the case in which Piko was
placed on probation[,]” and (4) “Loy’s ability to represent
zealously the interests of [Petitioner] will not be affected by
Piko’s status as former client of the [OPD].”

The court determined that (1) “there is no basis to
conclude that confidential attorney-client communications had
between [] Burks and Piko will be communicated to either [] Loy
or f] Marshall([,]1” (2) “Piko’s status is that of a prior or
former client for purposes of conflict analysis[,]” (3) “Piko’s

status as a former or prior client makes State v. Richie, 88

Hawai‘i 19, 960 P.2d 1227 (1998), distinguishable from the
situation in the instant matter[,]” (4) neither HRPC Rule 1.7 nor
Rule 1.9 prevented the OPD from representing Petitioner, (5) the
ability of Loy and Marshall to represent Petitioner would “not be
materially limited due to [Burks’s] prior representation of
Piko,” and (6) the OPD was immediately disqualified from

representing Piko.
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The OPD continued to represent Petitioner at the
resumption of his trial. On July 22, 2004, Loy called Piko as an
adverse witness. Piko admitted on direct examination that in the
parking lot during the incident related to Mark I, he asked
Retitioner, “[Wlhat you going do if I take [the camera] from
youl?1”

2.

On July 30, 2004, the jury returned a verdict on the
remaining counts in Mark I and Mark II. As to Mark I, the jury
was unable to reach a verdict on the remaining counts. As to
Mark II, the jury found Petitioner guilty of the included offense
of attempted assault in the first degree of Officer Sung. On
August 2, 2004, the court held a sentencing hearing, during which
it dismissed Counts I and III in Mark TI.

As to the remaining counts in Mark I, the court denied
the prosecution’s motion for extended term of imprisonment.
However, in regard to the remaining counts in Mark II, the court
granted the prosecution’s motion for extended term of

imprisonment,

finding that [Petitioner] was a persistent and multiple
offender and that extended terms of imprisonment were
hecessary for the protection of the public. Accordingly,
[the court] sentenced [Petitioner] to an extended term of
imprisonment of life without the possibility of parole for
Count I in Mark II, rather than the term of life with the
possibility of parole that would otherwise apply to a second
degree murder conviction. See HRS § 706-661 (Supp. 2003).
The court also imposed extended terms of imprisonment on the
other counts of conviction in Mark IT.

~ Mark, 120 Hawai‘i at 508, 210 P.3d at 31 (emphasis added).
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F.
On appeal to the'ICA, Petitioner argued nine different
grounds for reversing or vacating his convictions and sentences.

Petitioner argued that the court

erred by (1) granting in part the Honolulu Police
Department's (HPD) motion to quash a subpoena for certain
Internal Affairs Division records; (2) admitting a slow
motion version -of a videotape taken during the incident at
[1] Baskin-Robbins and refusing [Petitioner’s] proposed jury
instructions on the videotape; (3) incorrectly instructing
the jury on the justification of defense of others in the
first and second trials; (4) referring the jury back to the
court's instructions in response to a communication during
deliberations in the first trial; (5) denying his motion for
mistrial and his counsel's motion to withdraw during the
second trial after it was discovered that the [OPD] had
represented Piko; and (6) denying his motion for a mistrial
after it was discovered during the second trial that Piko
believed that he had made a deal with [Respondent] in
exchange for his testimony in the first trial, and after a
juror received an anonymous voice mail which suggested that
the juror should “watch [her] back.” [Petitioner] further
argue(d] that [(7)] he was denied a fair trial and impartial
jury in the first trial based on factors including
prejudicial publicity and the prosecutor's questioning of
witnesses during trial, and that [(8)] there was
insufficient evidence to convict him of the attempted
assault in the first degree of Officer Sung in the second
trial. . . . [Petitioner] also argues that [(9)] the
extended term sentences in Mark II violated his

constitutional rights.
Id. The ICA rejected Petitioner’s arguments with respect to his
convictions and affirmed the decision of the court. Id. Not all
of the arguments presented to the ICA were included in his
Application to this court.

II.

Petitioner lists the following questions in his

Application:
1) Did the [ICA] Err in Ruling That Any Error in the Jury
Instructions on Defense of Others Was Harmless Error?
2) Did the [ICA] Err in Ruling That the Trial Court Did

Not Err in Denying the Motion for Mistrial and
Withdrawal of Counsel in the Second Trial?
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3) Did the [ICA] Err in Ruling That [Petitioner] Was Not
Denied a Fair Trial?
4) Did the [ICA] Err in Not Remandlng Mark II Only For

Non-Extended Sentencing?
In seeking to reverse or vacate his convictions, Petitioner has
the burden to demonstrate that the ICA gravely erred. See HRS
§ 602-59 (Supp. 2009).

Respondent filed a memorandum in opposition on
September 10, 2009.

ITT.
A.

As to Petitioner’s first question, preiiminarily, at
Petitioner’s first trial, the court gave several jury
instructioné regarding the defense of others. 1In his
Application, Petitioner states that in his Opening Brief he
“argued plain error in all the court’s instructions on Defense of
Others because they contained misleading and confusing language.”
The ICA noted that “[t]lhe instructions were similar to each
other, with some exceptions that are not relevant to this
appeai.” Mark, 120 Hawai‘i at 522, 210 P.3d at 45. Petitioner
does not take issue with this conclusion, and only identifies one
jury instruction in his Application, Jury Instruction No. 65, in
arguing that the court’s jury instructions on defense of others
were erroneous. Thﬁs, only Jury Instruction No. 65 in regard to
Petitioner’s first triai is substantially examined. |

It does not appear that Petitioner directly challenges

any jury instructions related to his second trial. Petitioner’s
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Application refers to the second trial only once in regard to
jury instructions. He states that “[t]he prosecutor made the
same argument at the second trial” as he did at the first trial
“that it was [Petitioner] who provoked the use of force by
reaching for his gun first.” However, Petitioner does not say
what this argument had to do with any particular jury instruction
given at his second trial. Additionally, Petitioner relates that
“[tlhe ICA found that '. . . there was no evidence establishing=
that [Petitioner] reasonably believed that Martin or Daughter
would have been justified in using deadly force to protect
themselves inside [] Baskin Robbins.’” (Quoting Mark, 120
Hawai‘i at 528, 210 P.3d at 51. (Ellipsis in original.)) The
ICA had reached this conclusion in regard to Petitioner’s second
trial. Similar to his reference to the prosecutor’s argument,
Petitioner does not explain why the ICA was incorrect in regard
to any jury instructions given at his second trial.

Assuming, ar uendo, that in his Application Petitioner
has properly challenged jury instructions on defense of others in
his second trial, “only one of those instructions, which related
to the first degree attempted murder charge for Officer Sung and
the lesser included offehses of that charge, resulted in a
conviction.” Mark, 120 Hawai‘i at 527, 210 P.3d at 50. That

jury instruction is discussed further infra.
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B.
1.
Petitioner argues that “[b]y omitting ahd mixing up
crucial elements of HRS [§] 703-304['] and [HRS § 703-305
relating to the defense of others], the jufy instructions on
defense of others were confusing, misleading, and prejudicial.”

Relying on State v. Augustin, 101 Hawai‘i 127, 63 P.3d 1097

(2002),'® Petitioner asserts that “[u]nder HRS [§] 703-305, the

1 HRS § 703-304, related to the defense of self, provides in
relevant part as follows:

(2) The use of deadly force is justifiable under
this section if the actor believes that deadly force is
necessary to protect himself against death, serious bodily
injury, kidnapping, rape, or forcible sodomy.

(3) Except as otherwise provided in subsections (4)
and (5) of this section, a person employing protective force
may estimate the necessity thereof under the circumstances
as he believes them to be when the force is used without
retreating, surrendering possession, doing any other act
which he has no legal duty to do, or abstaining from any
lawful action.

(4) The use of force is not justifiable under this
section:

(a) To resist an arrest which the actor knows is

being made by a law enforcement officer,
although the arrest is unlawful; []

5) The use of deadly force is not justifiable under
this section if:
(a) The actor, with the intent of causing death or
serious bodily injury, provoked the use of force

against himself in the same encounter; or
(b) The actor knows that he can avoid the necessity

of using such force with complete safety by
retreating or by surrendering possession of a
thing to a person asserting a claim of right
thereto or by complying with a demand that he
abstain from any action which he has no duty to

takel[.]
(Emphases added.)
18 Auqustin provides no support for Petitioner’s position. In that

case, this court analyzed a jury instruction that, like the jury instruction
at issue here, was based on Hawai‘i Pattern Jury Instructions-- Criminal

(HAWJIC) No. 7.02 on defense of others. Petitioner argues that “[e]ven in
(continued...)
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jury is supposed to look at the circumstances as the defendant
believed them to be, not the third party.” Petitioner takes
issue with paragraphs 5 and 6 of Jury Instruction No. 65,
asserting that paragraphs 5 and 6 “told the jury that even if the
actor had a reasonably mistaken belief, it did not matter if the
third party himself or herself could not reasonably believe that
force was immediately necessary to protect himself or herself.”
2.
Respondent does not argue that the court’s jury

instructions were not erroneous. Instead, Respondent argues that

18(,..continued)
Augustin, [this court] recognized that the actor could have a reasonable but
mistaken belief.” In Augqustin, the defendant challenged a different part of
the Jjury instruction, which “advis[ed] the jury to consider [the defendant’s]
justification claims ‘from the viewpoint of a reasonable person in [the

defendant’s] position under the circumstances of which [the defendant] was
aware or as [the defendant] reasonably believed them to be[.]’” 101 Hawai‘i

at 127, 63 P.3d at 1097 (emphasis added). A majority of this court upheld
that statement, because it would be “error to judge the reasonableness of a
defendant's viewpoint based on circumstances ‘shown in the evidence’ but of
which the defendant is not ‘aware.’” Id. .

In this case, Jury Instruction No. 65 contained language identical to
that challenged above in Auqustin. Paragraph 4 stated that “[t]he
reasonableness of the Defendant’s belief that the use of such protective force
was immediately necessary shall be determined from the viewpoint of a
reasonable person in the Defendant’s position under the circumstances of which
the Defendant was aware or as the Defendant reasonably believed them to be.”
(Emphasis added.) Thus, as in Augqustin, paragraph 4 indicated to the jury
that Petitioner “could have a reasonable but mistaken belief.”

19 As noted above, paragraphs 5 and 6 stated as follows:

[5] The third person would have been justified in
using force upon or toward [Officer Gaspar] if he or she
reasonably believed that such force was immediately
necessary to protect himself or herself on the present
occasion against the use of unlawful force by [Officer
Gaspar].

[6] The third person would have been justified in ~
using deadly force upon or toward [Officer Gaspar] if he or
she reasonably believed that deadly force was immediately
necessary to protect himself or herself on the present
occasion against death, serious bodily injury, or
kidnapping.
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“there is no ‘reasonable possibility that the error contributed
to [Petitioner’s] conviction[s]’ for the murder of Officer Gaspar
(first trial), the assault of Officer Sung (second trial), or the
assault of Paikai (first trial)[.]”

3.

The ICA held that paragraph 32° of Jury Instruction No.

'65 “makes clear that the jury must evaluate the issue ‘[u]lnder
the circumstances as the Defendant reasonably believed them to
be,’ and paragraph 4 . . . further discusses how to assess the
reasonableness of the defendant's belief.” Mg;g; 120 Hawai‘i at
524, 210 P.3d at 47. Acéording to the ICA,;“[v]ieWed in the
context of the entire instruction, paragraphs 5 and 6 did not
improperly suggest that the jury should decide whether the third
party was in fact justified in using force or deadly force.” Id.
(footnote omitted). 1Instead, the ICA concluded that “they
provided the jury with the underlying priﬁciples to evaluate the
reasonableness of the defendant's belief that the third party
would be so justified.” Id. Thus, the ICA held that
Petitioner’s argument as to the jury instructions regarding the
defense of others was “without merit.” Id.

C.

1.

This court has stated that “‘[w]hen jury instructions

or the omission thereof are at issue on appeal, the standard of

20 ee discussion infra.
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review is whether, when read and considered as a whole, the
instructions given are prejudicially insufficient, erroneous,

inconsistent, or misleading[.]’” State v. Gomes, 93 Hawai‘i 13,

18, 995 P.2d 314, 319 (2000) (quoting State v. Kinnane, 79

Hawai‘i 46, 49, 897 P.2d 973, 976 (1995)). 1In this connection,
“[ejrroneous instructions are presumptively harmful and are a
ground for reversal unless it affirmatively appears from the
record as a whole that the error was not prejudicial.” State v.
Aganon, 97 Hawai‘i 299, 302, 36 P.3d 1269, 1272 (2001) (internal
quotation marks and citation omitted). However, “jury

instructions to which no objection has been made at trial will be

reviewed only for plain error.” State v. Sawyer, 88 Hawai‘i 325,
330, 966 P.2d 637, 642 (1998) (citing State v. Pinero, 75 Haw.
282, 292, 859 P.2d 1369, 1374 (1993)). 1In this case, Petitioner
did not object to the jury instructions he challenges on appeal,
and thus, the jury instructions are reviewed for plain error.

| 2.

As pointed out by the ICA, Jury Instruction No. 65 was
substantively identical to Hawai‘i Pattern Jury Instructions--
Criminal (HAWJIC) No. 7.02 on defense of others. However,
appellate courts are not bound by pattern jury instructioné.

State v. Nupeiset, 90 Hawai‘i 175, 182 n.9, 977 P.2d 183, 190 n.9

(App. 1999). In order to determine whether Jury Instruction No.

65 was erroneous, it “must be examined in the context of the
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justification defenses[?'] of the use of force in the defense of
others and the use of force in the defense of oneself.” Id. at
179-80, 977 P.2d at 187-88 (footnote altéred). The justification
defense of the “[u]se of force for the protection of other

persons” is codified in HRS § 703-305, which provides in relevant

part as follows:

(1) Subject to the provisions of this section and of
section 703-310, [**] the use of force upon or toward the
person of another is justifiable to protect a third person
when:

(a) Under the circumstances ‘as the actor believes

them to be, the person whom the actor seeks to

protect would be justified in using such
protective -force; and

(b) The actor believes that the actor's intervention
is necessary for the protection of the other
berson.

(2) Notwithstanding subsection (1):

(a) When the actor would be obliged under section

703-304 to retreat, to surrender the possession
of a thing, or to comply with a demand before
using force in self-protection, the actor is not
obliged to do so before using force for the
protection of another person, unless the actor
knows that the actor can thereby secure the
complete safety of such other person; and

(b) When the person whom the actor seeks to protect
would be obliged under section 703-304 to
retreat, to surrender the possession of a thing
or to comply with a demand if the person knew
that the person could obtain complete safety by
so doing, the actor is obliged to try to cause
the person to do so before using force in the
person's protection if the actor knows that the
actor can obtain the other's complete safety in

that wayl[.]
(Emphases added.)
21 Nupeiset pointed out that “HRS § 703-301(1) (1993) provides, ‘In

any prosecution for an offense, justification, as defined in sections 703-302
through 703-309, is a defense.’” 90 Hawai‘i at 180 n.3, 977 P.2d at 188 n.3.

22 The parties have not argued that HRS § 703-310, which limits the

defense of others where the defendant has a reckless or negligent belief or
engages in reckless or negligent conduct, is at issue in this case.
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The commentary to HRS § 703-305 states that this

section “permits a person to use force to protect another person

when the actor believes the other person would have been
justified in using force to protect himself and he believes that

his intervention is necessary to protect the other person.”?

(Emphasis added.) In the context of the use-of-force defenses,
“‘[b]elieves’ means reasonably believes[.]” HRS § 703-300
(1993). 1In order for “the othef person [to] have been justified
in using force to protect himself,” the following requirements

set forth in HRS § 703-304 regarding self-protection would apply:

(1) Subject to the provisions of this section and of
section 703-308, [#*] the use of force upon or toward another
person is justifiable when the actor believes that such
force is immediately necessary for the purpose of protecting
himself against the use of unlawful force by the other
person on the present occasion.

(2) The use of deadly force is justifiable under this
section if the actor believes that deadly force is necessary
to protect himself against death, serious bodily injury,

kidnapping, rape, or forcible sodomy.

(Emphases added.) Thus, under HRS § 703-305, in order to use
force to protect a third person, the actor must have a reasonable
belief that, as to the third person, (1) “force is immediately
necessary for the purpose of protecting himself against the use

of unlawful force by the other person on the present occasion,”

23 Additionally, the commentary to HRS § 703-305 states that “[t]his
formulation covers situations in which the other's infirmity, infancy, or
other physical condition makes him especially unable to protect himself or
susceptible to injury, even though the actor, in a similar predicament, might
not himself have been justified in using force.” (Emphasis added.)

24 HRS § 703-308, which justifies the use of force upon another
person if the force is enough to prevent, inter alia, suicide or the
commission of a crime, is not relevant to this case.
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or (2) “deadly force is necessary to protect himself against
death, serious bodily injury, kidnapping, rape, or forcible
sodomy.”

This conclusion is supported by the Model Penal Code
and Commentaries (Official Draft and Revised Comments 1985)
[hereinafter MPC] § 3.05. it has been observed that “HRS
§ 703-305 is nearly identical to [the MPC].” Nupeiset, 90
Hawai‘i at 180, 977 P.2d at 188. The commentary to the MPC

states in pertinent part that

given the circumstances as the actor believes them to be,
the third person must legally be justified in using such
protective force. Thus, if the third person were resisting
an arrest by a known police officer, or if he were
attempting to effect an arrest with excessive force, he
would have no defense, and, if the circumstances were known

to the actor, the actor would have no defense either.

MPC § 3.05 cmt. 1 at 64 (emphases added). In other words, if the
actor knew that the third person could not reasonably believe
that the use of force was justified, the actor could not use
force in the protection of the third person.

D.

As stated before, Petitioner argued that paragraphs 5
and 6 “told the jury that even if the actor had a reasonably
mistaken belief, it did not matter if the third party himself or
herself could not reasonably believe that force was immediately
necessary to protect himself or herself.” Petitioner appears to
argue, as he did in his Opening Brief, that‘“the jury should not

be deciding whether the third person had the right to defend
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[himself]l. The focus should have been on whether the defendant
reasonably believed [he or she] had that right.”

Paragraph 5, related to the ﬁse of force, and paragraph
6, related to the use of deadly force, did address the reasonable
belief of the third person, rather than the defendant. However,
these péragraphs must be read in conjunction with paragraph 3 of
Jury Instruction No. 65.2° Paragraph 3 stated that “[t]he use of

force upon or toward another person is justified to protect a

third person when . . . Julnder the circumstances as the

Defendant reasonably believed them to be, the third person would
have been justified in using such force to protect himself or

herself[.]1” ,(Emphasié added.) Paragraph 3 makes clear that the
focus of the jury should be upon “the circumstances as the
Defendant reasonably believed them to be[.]” Viewing paragraphs
5 and 6 in the context of paragraph 3, Jury Instruction No. 65
correctly stated that the defendant must have reasonably believed
that the third person was justified in believing that “force was
immediately necessary to protect himself or herself” or “that
deadly force Was immediately necessary to protect himself or

herself[.]” Thus, paragraphs 5 and 6, taken in conjunction with

2% The court instructed the jury to view the instructions as a whole,
stating that,

[ylou must consider all of the instructions as a whole and
consider each instruction in light of all of the others. Do
not single out any word, phrase, sentence or instruction and
ignore the others. Do not give greater emphasis to any
word, phrase, sentence or instruction simply because it is
repeated in these instructions.
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paragraph 3 of Jury Instruction No. 65, was not an incorrect
statement of the law.

Iv.

A.

1.

Petitioner also argues that paragraph 7 of Jury
Instruction No. 65 was erroneous, apparently for two reasons.
First, Petitioner claims that (1) “[bl]y repeatedly using the word
‘Defendant,’ the focus is on the defendant, not the third
party(,]1” and (2) “[tlhe jury might have thought [Petitioner]
could have either retreated or used non-deadly forcel[,]1” but:“the
lcircumstances would be different if he were also looking out for
his pregnant girlfriend or his young daughter who was sick with
the flu.” Second, Petitioner argues that (1) because “[t]he
prosecution essentially argued that it was [Petitioner] who
provoked the use of force by reaching for his gun first[, tlhe
court’s confusing instruction would have led the jury to
incorrectly conclude that this prohibited [Petitioner’s] Defense
of Others defense[,]” and (2) “[blased on what had happened
before [with Piko and Paikai], [Petitioner] had every reason to
believe that [Daughter] or [Martin] would get seriously injured
or kidnapped.”

2.

As to paragraph 7 of Jury Instruction No. 65, the ICA

in effect divided the paragraph into two parts and analyzed each
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part separately. As to “the first part of paragraph 7 of the
instruction, [(clause (a))] which provided that the use of deadly
force is not justified ‘if the Defendant, with the intent of
causing death or sefious bodily injury, provoked the use of force
against himself in the same encounter[,]’” the ICA “agree[d] with
[Petitioner] that this part of the instruction does appear to mix
principles of self-defense with those of defense of others in a
way that could be confusing to a jury.” Mark, 120 Hawai‘i at
5217, 210 P.3d at 50 (emphasis added). However, the ICA held that
the error was harmless because “[t]lhere [was] nothing in the
record to suggest that fPetitidner], with the intent of causing
death or serious bodily injury, did anything in [regard to Mark I
or Mark I1] to provoke the use of force against himself.” Id.
The ICA concluded that “[t]lhis forecloses the possibility that
the jury would have denied the defense of others justification to
[Petitioner] based on the erroneous part of the instruction.”
Id.

In regard to the second part of paragraph 7, (clause
(b)), the ICA held that it was not erroneous because,

[r]lead in context of the entire instruction, the “necessity”

for using force in paragraph 7 refers to the threat to the
third party, and the instruction thus advises the jury that
the defendant must retreat only if he or she can avoid “the

necessity of such force with complete safety” of that third
party.

Id. at 526, 210 P.3d at 49 (emphasis added). The ICA also
concluded that even if clause (b) were erroneous, the error would

"be harmless beyond a reasonable doubt because (1) in regard to
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Mark I, (a) there was no evidence to “support a reasonable belief
on‘[Petitioner's] part that Martin was justified in.using deadly
force against Piko, let alone Paikai[,]” and (b) “the jury was
also instructed on self-defense with regard to the counts at
issue here, and necessarily rejected that defense in finding
[Petitioner] guilty[,]1” and, therefore, “it is not reasonably

possible that a jury would find that [Petitioner] lacked

qustification to use deadly force to protect himself, but would

find that he was justified in using it to protect

Martin[,]” and (2) in regard to Mark II, (a) “th[e] evidence
foreclosed the possibility that [Petitjioner] could have retreated
in any event[,]” (b) “the jury was also instructed on
self—defeﬁse with regard to the counts at issue here, and
necessarily rejected that defense in finding [Petitioner]

uilty([,]1” and, therefore, “it is not reasonably possible that a
g

jJury would find thét‘[Petitioner1 lacked justification to use

deadly force to Drotect'himself, but would find that he was

justified in using it to protect Daughter and Martin[,]”

(c) defense counsel conceded that the use of deadly force by
Daughter at Baskin-Robbins would have been excessive, and

(d) Petitioner could not “have reasonably believed that thgre was
a threat to Martin at [] Baskin-Robbins that would have justified
the use of deadly force by her.” Id. at 526-27, 210 P.3d at 49-

50 (emphases added).
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B.
To reiterate, paragraph 7 of Jury Instruction No. 65

stated that

[tlhe use of deadly force is not justifiable [(a)] if the
Defendant, with the intent of causing death or serious
bodily injury, provoked the use of force against himself in
the same encounter, or [(b)] if the Defendant knows that he
can avoid the necessity of using such force with complete

safety by retreating.

(Emphases added.) Paragraph 7 is identical to language contained
in HAWJIC 7.02, which sets forth the pattern jury instruction of
defense-of-others. The commentary to HAWJIC 7.02 does not
indicate why such language is included in the instruction.
However, as noted above, “[tlhe instructions . . . are not
binding on the Hawai‘i appellate courts.” Nupeiset, 90 Hawai‘i at
182, 977 P.2d at 190 (citation omitted).

In this case, contrary to the ICA’s conclusion that
“the ‘necessity’ for using force in paragraph 7 refers to the
threat to the third party,” Mark, 120 Hawai‘i at 526, 210 P.3d at
49, the plain language of paragraph 7 is substantively identical

to HRS § 703-304(5), dealing with self-protection. That HRS

section states in relevant part that-

[t]he use of deadly force is not justifiable under this

section if . . . [t]lhe actor, with the intent of causing
death or serious bodily injury, provoked the use of force
against himself in the same encounter; or . . . [tlhe actor

knows that he can avoid the necessity of using such force
with complete safety by retreatingl.]

Additionally, as to clause (a) of'paragraph 7, nothing in HRS
§ 703-305 relating to the protection of other persons involves

the concept of provocation on the part of the defendant. Thus,
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contrary to the ICA’s “necessity” reasoning, clause (a) 1is a
clearly erroneous statement of the law.

As to clause (b), the manner in which HRS § 703-305
Vrelating to defense of others deals with retreat is fundamentally

different from the language set forth in clause (b) of paragraph

7. HRS § 703-305(2) (a) states that “[wlhen the actor would be

obliged under section 703-304 to retreat,[?®] . . . the actor is

not obliged to do so before using force for the protection of

another person, unless the actor knows that the actor can thereby
secure the complete safety of such other person([.]” (Emphases
added.) On the other hand, HRS § 703-305(2) (k) deals with the

obligation of the actor if the third person is obliged to

retreat:

When the person whom the actor seeks to protect would be
obliged under section 703-304 to retreat, . . . if the
person knew that the person could obtain complete safety by
so doing, the actor is obliged to try to cause the person to
do so before using force in the person's protection if the
actor knows that the actor can obtain the other's complete
safety in that way/[.]

(Emphasis added.) As noted before, the language of clause (b) of
paragréph 7 relates to self-protection and, thus, gg;y addresses
retreat in the context of self-protection. Thus, clause (b) of
paragraph 7 ‘conflicts with the retreat provision relating to

defense of others in HRS § 703-305. Accordingly, clause (b) of

26 Under HRS § 703-304(5)(b) related to self-protection, the actor
would be obliged to retreat if “[t]he actor knows that he can avoid the
necessity of using [deadly force] with complete safety by retreating or by
surrendering possession of a thing to a person asserting a claim of right
thereto or by complying with a demand that he abstain from any action[.]”
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paragraph 7 was also erroneous.

As said before, there is no explanation in the
commentary to HAWJIC 7.02 as to why the language in paragraph 7
should be included in an instruction on the justification of
defense of others. Paragraph 7 obviously relates to the
justification of sélf—defense, and thus would appear to have no
place in an instruction related to the defense of others. HRS
§ 703-305 says nothing about provocation, and the concept of
retreat set forth in HRS § 703-305(2) is entirely different from
the concept of retreat as discussed in clause (b) of paragraph 7.

The ICA, despite concluding that clause, (a) of
paragraph 7 “appear[ed] to mix principles of self-defense with
those of defense of others in a way that would be confusing to a
jury,” Mark, 120 Hawai‘i at 527, 210 P.3d at 50, did not address
the‘inclusion of paragraph 7 in the HAWJIC. Moreover, the ICA
concluded that clause (b) of paragraph 7 was not erroneous,
because it “referred to the threat to the third party, and the
instruction advises theAjury that the defendant must retreat only
if he or she can avoid ‘the necessity of such force with complete
safety’ of that third party.” Id. at 526, 210 P.3d at 49.
Inasmuch as paragraph 7 is erroneous, the ICA’s decision is
incorrect. Thus, contrary to the ICA’s decision, we hold that
the language in paragraph 7 should not be included in HAWJIC

7.02.
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C.

Because the giving of paragraph 7 rendered Jury
Instruction No. 65 erroneous, it must be determined whether such
error was harmless. See Nupeiset, 90 Hawai‘i at 184, 977 P.2d at
192 (stating that while the challenged jury instruction was "“an
incomplete statement of the law, we believe any error in giving
it was harmless”). Preliminarily, as noted above, the ICA held
that “[e]ven if we were to find that [paragraph 7] was a
potentially misleading statement of the law, the error would be

harmless beyond a reasonable doubt” because

the jury was also instructed on self-defense with regard to
the counts at issue here, and necessarily rejected that
defense in finding [Petitioner] guilty [of the attempted
assault of Paikai and the second degree murder of Officer
Gaspar]). Given the evidence at trial, it is not reasonably
possible that a jury would find that [Petitioner] lacked
justification to use deadly force to protect himself, but
would find that he was justified in using it to protect
Daughter and Martin (at [] Baskin-Robbins) or Martin (at the
church parking lot).

Mark, 120 Hawai‘i at 526, 210 P.3d at 49 (emphases added).
HoWever, as Petitioner stated, “‘[a]ln intervenor’s

right to react is not strictly coterminous with a participant’s

right to self-defense.’” (Quoting Alexander v. State, 447 A.2d
880, 887 (Md. Ct. Spec. App. 1982).) This statement is supported

by the commentary toVHRS § 703-305, which, as noted supra at note
23, states that “[t]his formulation covers situations in which
the other’s infirmity, infancy, or othér physical condition makes
him especially unable to protect himself or susceptible to

injury, even though the actor, in a similar predicament, might

not himself have been justified in using force.” (Emphasis
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added.) As the commentary makes evident, it is possible that a
defendant could be justified in using force to protect another
person, even if the defendant himself or herself was not
justified in using force for self protection. Therefore,
contrary to the ICA’s conclusion, it does not follow that a
jury’s rejection of a defendant’s defense of self-defense, as in
this case, would necessarily result in its rejection of a defense
of defense of others, aﬁd, accordingly, the ICA also erred in
this aspect of its reasoning.

D.

1.

In regard to clause (a) of paragraph 7 as it relates to
provocation, the following evidence with respect to Mark I was
adduced at Petitioner’s first trial.?’ As discussed supra,
Petitioner testified that he was being approached from opposite
sides by Piko and Paikai, when Piko “whacked” Petitioner’s car
with his hand. Piko then turned to Petitioner and asked
Petitioner what he would do if Piko and Paikai took the camera
from him. After giving the camera to Piko, Piko turned to
Petitioner and stated that he and\Paikai were “just going to take
everything,” which Petitioner took to mean that he and Martin

were being robbed. Petitioner thought Piko and Paikai were going

to “trap [him] . . . and beat [him] up.”

z Petitioner does not point to any difference in the evidence
adduced at his first and second trials related to the provocation of force on

his part.
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Paikai testified that while Petitioner and Piko were
having a‘conversation, “the discussion got heated, and I guess
the discussion was over where the property was going to go at the
time.” Paikai stated that next, “[a]ll I seen was [Petitioner]
give him the box and pull a gun.” According to Paikai, he saw
Petitioner making “gestures” “like just before a fight is about
to start[.]” He saw Piko “raising [his] hands out with [his]
palms open,” as if Piko was saying “what or something.” Paikai
related that Petitioner pulled the handgun and pointed it
“[r]ight at [Piko’s] head” “[als soon as he put [the box] in
[Piko’s] hand.” Paikai saw Piko “1ift[] up the box[,]” at which
point Petitioner “[f]ired a round[.]” Piko then turned and ran,
while Petitioner “pull[ed] off maybe one or two more rounds[.]”

Paikai stated that after Piko ran away, “[Petitioner]
turned his sights on [Paikai].” Paikai stated that Petitioner
aimed the gun at him, “and I ran closer to [Petitioner’s] car,
you know, making it a little harder for him to shoot me. And I
think he pulled off two more shots, and then that’s when I got
one in the leg(.]”

Piko gave the following testimony about what happened

between him and Petitioner during the exchange of the box:

[Petitioner] started explaining to me about something, so I
told him what if I just take this from you, what vou goin’

do? . . . That’s when he told me, you know what, here. He

went hand the camera to me, and when I went grab ‘em, he

just went pull out his gun.

(Emphasis added.) According to Piko, “[a]fter that, all I heard
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was pah, and I jﬁst -~ I was gone.” Piko teétified that he did
not “touch [Petitioner] thét night” or “verbally threaten him
with words[.]” He stated that he did not “do anything to
physically threaten [Petitioner],” and that the discussion he was
having with Petitioner “wasn’t even [an] argument.”
2.
HRS § 703-300 defines “force” as “any bodily impact,

restraint, or confinement, or the threat thereof.” (Emphasis

added.) As to Mark I, based on Petitioner’s testimony discussed
above, it would appear that he felt threatened by force from Piko
and Paikai. However, nothing in Petitioner’s testimony indicates

that he provoked such a threat. To “provoke” means “to incite to

anger” or “to bring about deliberately[.]” Webster’s Third New

Int’]l Dictionary 1827 (1961). Petitioner’s testimony indicates

that in speaking to Piko and giving him the box, Petitioner did
not provoke the threat of the use of force against himself.
Thus, had the jury believed Petitioner’s testimony, the effect of
clause (a) of paragraph 7~would have been harmless, because no
provocation occurred on Petitioner’s part to invite the threat of
force. If the jury believed Petitioner’s testimony, the
limitation in clause (a) of paragraph 7 would have been harmless
error, because Petitioner’s testimony did not support a finding
that he had provoked the threat of force.

As to Paikai’s testimony, nothing in his testimony

indicated that he used force or the threat of force against
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Petitioner in Mark I. Paikai did not ﬁestify that he heard the
actual conversation between Petitioner and Piko, but only that it
appeared to get “heated.” Piko testified that he “told
[Petitioner, Wlhat if I just take this from you, what you goin'
do?”

Piko’s foregoing statement could be interpreted as the
threat of force, but neither Piko nor Paikai testified that such

force was provoked by Petitioner. 1Instead, Piko testified that

“[Petitioner] started explaining to me about something,” at which
point he asked Petitioner what Petitioner would do if Piko took
the box from him. The fact that Petitioner was “explaining
| something” cannot be interpreted as provoking force by Piko or
Paikai. Similarly, Paikai’s testimony that Petitioner was making
“gestures” is not an indication that Petitioner p;ovoked the use
of force by Piko or Paikai. Thus, had the jury believed Piko’s
and Paikai’s testimony, the error in clause (a) of paragraph 7
relating to the provocation of Petitioner would have been
harmless, because their testimony did not support a finding that
Petitioner had provoked the use of force.
3.

Turning to clause (b) of. paragraph 7, that clause
stated that “[t]lhe use of deadly force is not justifiable
if the Defendant knows that he can avoid the necessity of using
such force with qomplete safety by retreating.” (Emphasis

added.) As noted before, the language in this clause pertains
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only to self protection. HRS § 703-300 defines “deadly force” as

follows:

“Deadly force” means force which the actor uses with’the
intent of causing or which the actor knows to create a
substantial risk of causing death or serious bodily harm:

Intentionally firing a firearm in the direction of another
person or in the direction which another person is believed
to be constitutes deadly force. A threat to cause death or
serious bodily inijury, by the production of a weapon or

otherwise, so long as the actor's intent is limited to

creating an apprehension that the actor will use deadly

force if necessary, does not constitute deadly force.

(Emphasis added.)

It is undisputed that Petitioner “[i]ntentionally
fir[ed] a firearm in the direction of another person,” id.,
namely Piko and Paikai, and thus used deadly force, twice in the
Mark I incident. As to the use of deadly force in regard to
Piko( however, the jury was unable to reach a verdict. Thus,
Petitioner’s use of deadly force and Petitioner’s duty to retreat
in regard to Piko is not further discussed.?®

In regard to Paikai, it does not appear that any
witness testified directly as to whether Petitioner could have
retreated, and thus avoid the necessity of using deadly force
with complete safety. Petitioner stated that after Piko had run
off, he turned to look for Paikai, and saw him‘kneeling down at
the front of Petitioner’s car. Petitioner stated that he “[flelt

like . . . [Paikai] might have a weapon or something(,]” and he

28 As noted supra, the charges related to Piko were ultimately
dismissed after the jury was again unable to reach a verdict on them in the
second trial.
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“was real scared[.]” Petitioner then reached over the car and
shot Paikai in the leg in order to “stop him.”

Nothing in this testimony indicates that Petitioner
knew that he could avoid the necessity of using deadly force by
retreating. Accordiné to Petitioner, he saw Paikai “kneeling
down, and . . . coming around [Petitioner’s] car towards
[Petitioner].” Petitioner thought Paikai might have a weapon,
and stated that he shot Paikai to “stop him.” The fact that
Petitioner felt that he had to “stop” Paikai indicates that
Petitioner did not believe that he could have retreated with
complete safety. Petitioner did not testify as to any knowledge
he may have had in regard to avoiding the necessity of using
force. Thus, there was no evidence adduced at trial that, as
stated in clause (b), Petitioner knew he could have retreated
with complete safety, thereby “avoid[ing] the necessity of using
such force[.]” HRS § 703-304(5) (b). As a result, clause (b) as
it relates to Mark I could not be applied and, hence, was also
harmless error.

E.
1.

In regard to clause (a)¢of paragraph 7 of Instruction
No. 65 as it relates.to Mark II, as discussed supra, Petitioner
téstified that he did not see Officer Gaspar or Officer Sung
before they grabbed him, and thus, nothing in Petitioner’s

testimony would indicate that he provoked the use of force
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against himself. However, as néted before, Officer Sung
testified that after showing Petitioner his badge, he saw
Petitioner “reaching for something, and from my police training
and experiences, usually when they reach for something in their
pocket, usually it means weapon, so I’'m telling him pull your
hands up, police, and then I kept on approaching [Petitioner].”
Officer Sung stated that he grabbed for Petitioner’s right hand
in order to stop Petitioner from “[r]eaching for any kind of
weapons, possibly gun or possibly knife, possibly harming other
people.”

This testimony thus contradicts the ICA’s conclusion
that “[t]lhere is nothing in the record to suggest that
[Petitioner], with the intent of causing death or serious bodily
injury, did anything in [] Baskin-Robbins to provoke the use bf
force against himself.” Mark, 120 Hawai‘i at 527, 210 P.3d at 50
(emphasis added). Officer Sung testified that Petitioner reached
for his pocket, which, in Officer Sung’s experience, usually
meant that the person was reaching for a weapon. Officer Sung
testified that he grabbed for Petitioner’s hand, i.e., used force
on Petitioner, in order to prevent Petitioner from reaching for a
weapon. Since weapons are generally used for the purpose of
causing death or serious bodily injury, Officer Sung’s testimony
is evidence that Petitioner provoked the use of force against

himself.
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Because clause (a) of paragraph 7 stated that the
protection of other persons defense was unavailable to Petitioner
if he provoked the use of force, clause (a) as it related to Mark
II was potentially harmful. Based on the evidence, the jury
could have believed, following the direction in clause (a) of
paragraph 7, that Petitioner provoked the use of force against
himself, thus disqualifying him from claiming the defense of
others defense. Inasmuch as paragraph 7, clause (a), of Jury
Instruction No. 65 was erroneous, the jury could have reached a
decision that was legally infirm.

2.

As to clause (b) of paragfaph 7, it is clear from the
testimony of all the witnesses that Petitioner did not know he
could have retreated with complete safety in Baskin Robbins. To
retreat means “to draw back” or “withdraw.” Webster’s Third New
Int’]l Dictionary at 1940. But prior to Petitioner’s use of
force, he was engaged in a struggle with the officers, who,
according to Officer Sung, “grabb[ed]” and “restrain[ed]”
Petitioner. Petitioner testified that the men were “grabbing”
him, and “holding onto [him],” and that while the first two men
were grabbing him, a third man came up behind Petitioner and
grabbed him in a “bear hug.” This testimony indicates that
Petitioner could not have retreated at all, i.e., “withdrawn,”

because he was being “restrain[ed]” by the officers at the time.
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Clause (b) of paragraph 7 instructed the jury that if
Petitioner knew that he could have retreated with complete
safety, the defense of others defense was unavailable to him.
However, as discussed above, there was no evidence adduced at
trial that Petitioner knew he could have retreated with complete
safety, thereby “avoid[ing] the necessity of using such forcel.]1”
In fact, the evidence indicated that Petitioner was unable to
retreat because he was being held by the officers. Inasmuch as
there was no evidence that Petitioner knew he could have
retreated with complete safety, there was no evidence on which
the jury could not have found that the limitation in clause (b)

applied to Petitioner. See State v. Klinge, 92 Hawai‘i 577, 592,

994 p.2d 509, 524 (2000) (“As a rule, juties are presumed to
follow all of the trial court’s instructions.” (Quoting State v.
Knight, 80 Hawai‘i 318, 327, 909 P.2d 1133, 1142 (1996).))
(Ellipsis omitted.) Thus, clause (b) as it relates to Mark II
was harmless error.

3.

As noted supra, clause (a) of paragraph 7 relating to
provocation by Petitioner was erroneous and, thus, potentially
harmful error with respect to Mark II. Nevertheless, it does not
appear there was any evidence upon which an instruction as to the
defense of others, in this case Martin and Daughter, could be
based. In order to establish whether Petitioner’s substantial

rights were affected, it must be determined “whether, from the
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objective point of view of a reasonable person, the defendant's
use of force was necessary for the protection of a person who
would be justified in using such force, under the circumstances
as the defendant subjectively believes them to be.” State v.
Pavao, 81 Hawai‘i 142, 145, 913 P.2d 553, 556 (App. 1996). As to
the counts in Mark II that Petitioner was charged with in his
first trial, only two related to Petitioner’s use of force, and
the jury only returned a conviction on Count I, regarding the'
second degree murder of Officer Gaspar.

Any “protective force” Petitioner may have used in that
count amounted to deadly force, because it involved the shooting
of Officer Gaspar. See HRS § 703-300 (“Intentionally firing a
firearm in the direction of another person . . . constitutes
deadly force.”) .In his Application, Petitioner argues that he
“had every reason to believe that [Daughter] or [Martin] would
get seriously injured or kidnapped;” Thus, it must be determined
‘ whether, under the circumstances as Petitioner must reasonably
believe them to be, Martin or Daughter would have been justified
in using deadly force.

Petitioner points to the following testimony in support
of his claim that he reasonably believed that Martin or Daughter
would have been justified in using deadly force: (1) Petitioner
testified that since the incident in Mark I “he had been hearing
threats against himself and Martin,” (2) “[o]lne of the reasons

why he did not turn himself in right away was because he was
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afraid of what would happen to Martin if she were left alone,”
(3) Petitioner “testified that, when he and Martin were being
"chased by Piko, he thought he saw one of the men holding a gun,”
and (4) “[t]he last time he saw Martin, she was by his side as he
reached to put the necklace on [Daughter, and, i]n his mind,
these were three largé men, presumably friends of Piko and
Paikai, who had gang.tackled him without provocation.”

Neither Martin nor Daughter testified at Petitioner’s
trial. Several witnesses in Baskin Robbins at the time of the
struggle did testify. For example, Sennett, the mother of
.Daughter, testified that Petitioner was “not even a foot away
from [Daughter]” when Officer Gaspar and Officer Sung entered
Baskin Robbins. According to Sennett, Petitioner “started to

back up a little[,]1” and then

[t]hey walked up to him and he still had the necklace in his.
hand, and as they were reaching for him, he dropped the
necklace, and they said, “Shane Mark,” . . . then he bent
down and started like going backwards, and the police
officers were trying to get him to stand completely up, and

he kept going and backed into the counter.

Kortz, Sennett’s boyfriend, testified that as
Petitioner was attempting to place the necklace around Daughter’s
neck, “two gentlemen came walking in from behind me and walked
past me and past [Sennett] towards [Petitioner], and they made a
comment to him or said something to him. [Petitioner] started to
back up. When they - the two gentlemen started to grab for

[Petitioner] and started to struggle[.]”
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As discussed ébove, Petitioner testified that the first
time he noticed Officer Gaspar and Officer Sung was when they
attempted to grab him. Officer Sung testified that after he and
Officer Gaspar had showh Petitioner their badges, he saw
Petitioner reaching for something in his pocket, and immediately
reached out for Petitioner. Petitioner points to no testimony by
any of the witnesses at Baskin Robbins indicating that the
officers used force or the threat of force against Martin or
Daughter. Although Sennett testified that Petitioner was near
Daughter at the time the officers grabbed him, the testimony
indicates that the officers grabbed directly for Petitioner, and
made no threats or attempts to grab Martin or Daughter.

As noted before, Petitioner testified that he and
Martin had been “hearing threats” and that he was “afraid of what
would happen to Martin if she were left alone.” However,
Petitioner’s own testimony indicates that under the circumstances
known to him, the men were grabbing for him, and not for Martin
or Daughter. As Petitioner stated he “had a feeling” that the
men were “going to pull me out of the store” to “[t]ake me
someplace and kill me.” Nothing in Petitioner’s testimony or in
the testimony of the other witnesses would support a reasonable
belief that it was necessary for Petitioner to use deadly force
in order to protect Martin or Daughter.

Furthermore, there could not have been a reasonable

belief that either Martin or Daughter would have been justified
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in using deadly force. Although Petitioner did testify that he
was “pretty scared” because Daughter could have gotten hurt, it
does not appear that Petitioner offered testimony in this regard
as to Martin. As discussed above, the witnesses’ testimony
indicated that the officers grabbed Petitioner, focusing their
attention on him and no one else. At the settling of Jury
Instruction No. 65, Loy, Petitioner’s counsel, herself stated, “I
don’t think [Daughter] would have the right to use deadly force.
Deadly force is a greater degree of force than is justified.”
Petitioner would not have been justified in using force that
neither Martin nor Daughter were justified in using, “as the
defense applies only when the third person being defended could
himself or herself legitimately employ force.” Pavao, 81 Hawai‘i
at 147, 913 P.2d at 558.

Because under the circumstances as Petitioner believed
them to be, a reasonable person would not believe that Martin or
Daughter would be justified in using deadly force, Petitioner was
not justified in using deadly force, purportedly in their
defense. Hence, Petitioner was not prejudiced by the error in
clause (a) of paragraph 7 in Jury Instruction No. 65 with respect

to Mark II. See id. (holding that because the defendant could

not have reasonably believed that the third person would have
been justified in using force, the trial court’s finding of guilt
was supported by substantial evidence). Although “a defendant is

entitled to an instruction on every defense or theory of defense
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having any support in the evidence,” State v. Cabrera, 90 Hawai‘i
359, 370, 978 P.2d 797, 808 (1999) (citation omitted), based on
the evidence discussed above; there was no rational basis on
which the jury could conclude that Petitioner was justified in
using force for the protection of others. See State v. Kupihea,
98 Hawai‘i 196, 206, 46 P.3d 498, 508 (2002) (holding that trial
court was not required to include all statutory definitions in
its instructions but, rather, “should refer only to those
[definitionsj having a rational basis in the evidence adduced at
trial and not otherwise excludable”).

Consequently, viewing the evidence as a whole, there is
no reasonable possibility that the inclusion of paragraph 7,

clause (a) relating to provocation, in Jury Instruction No. 65

contributed to Petitioner’s conviction. See State v. Arceo, 84
Hawai‘i 1, 12, 928 P.2d 843, 854 (1996) (“Error is not to be
viewed in isolation and considered purely in the abstract. It
must be examined in the light of the entire proceedings and
[i]n’that context, the real question becomes whether there is a
reasonable possibility that error might have contributed to
conviction.”) (Emphasis added.) (Citation omitted.) Based on
the entire proceedings, clause (a) of paragraph 7 in Jury
Instruction No. 65 as it relates to Mark II was harmless error.
F.
In Petitioner’s second trial, the court’s instruction

on defense of others was identical to Jury Instruction No. 65,
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except that the language in paragraph 7 related to retreat had
been altered to track the language related to retreat in HRS §
703-305(2). However, the instruction retained the language on

provocation as follows:

The use of deadly force is not justifiable if the

defendant, with the intent of causing death or serious
bodily inijury, provoked the use of force against himself in

the same encounter.

. When, under the law of justification based upon
self-defense, the defendant would’ve been obliged to retreat
or comply with a demand before using deadly force, he is not
obliged to do so before using deadly force to protect
another person unless he knows that he can thereby secure
the complete safety of the third person.

When, under the law of justification based upon self-
defense, the person whom the defendant seeks to protect
would be obliged to retreat or comply with a demand before
using deadly force if that person knew that he or she could
obtain complete safety by doing so, the defendant is obliged
to try to cause the person to do so before using deadly
force in the person’s protection if the defendant knows that
he can obtain the other’s complete safety in that way.

(Emphases added.)

Petitioner does not claim that the language related to
retreat in the court’s protection of others instruction in the
second trial was erroneous, and indeed, the ICA stated that
“[Petitioner] appears to concede that this modified instruction
resol%es his objection to the language regarding the duty to
retreat in paragraph 7 of the instructions given in the first
trial.” Mark, 120 Hawai‘i at 528, 210 P.3d at 51. Because the
language related to retreat in this instruction tracks the
language in HRS § 703-305(2), this portion of the instruction was
an accurate statement of the law.

However, the instruction continued to contain the same

erroneous language related to provocation by Petitioner as in
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clause (a) of paragraph 7 in Jury Instruction No. 65. The ICA
“agree[d] with [Petitioner] on that point,” but held that the

error was harmless beyond a reasonable doubt because

[tlhe jury was instructed with regard to self-defense in the

second trial, and implicitly rejected that defense by
convicting [Petitioner] of the attempted first degree
assault of Officer Sung. Although there were some
differences in. the evidence between the two trials,
nevertheless there was no evidence establishing that
[Petitioner] reasonably believed that Martin or Daughter
would have been justified in using deadly force to protect
themselves inside [] Baskin-Robbins.

Id. (footnote omitted). With this statement, the ICA implied
that because the jury “implicitly rejected” the defense of self-
defense, the defense of others defense was therefore unavailable
to Petitioner. However, as discussed above, this conclusion by
the ICA was wrong because the commentary to HRS § 703-305
specifically provides that a defendant may be justified in using
force to protect another person, even if the defendant himself or
herself was not Jjustified in using force for self protection.

The only apparent difference in the evidence between
the two trials was that at his second trial, Petitioner testified
that he was “worried” about Martin in Baskin Robbins because she
was pregnant. Petitioner had not mentioned being “worried” about
Martin during his first trial. Petitioner’s testimony at his
second trial that he was “worried” about Martin does not alter
the conclusion reached above in regard to the court’s instruction
on protection of others.

There was no evidence adduced at Petitioner’s second

trial that would have given rise to a reasonable belief that
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Martin would have been justified in using deadly force to protect
herself. The testimony in regard to the actions of the officers
was the same, in that they grabbed for Petitioner, and did not
threaten Martin or Daughter in any way. Therefore, as with
clause (a) of paragraph 7 in Jury Instruction No. 65, Petitioner
was not prejudiced by the language related to provocation in the
instruction on protection of others in his second trial.

G.

Related to Petitioner’s claim of erroneous jury
instructions, Petitioner also argues in a footnote in his
Application that “[iln [his] Reply Brief, [Petitioner] raised an
additional issue regarding the [court’s] failure to give a |
complete definition of Kidnapping. [Petitioner] would again
renew the request to consider this as plain error.” Petitioner
makes no further argument regarding this issue in his
Application.

In his Reply Brief, Petitioner stated that, during his
first trial, he testified that he thought the men “were robbing
the Baskin Robbins store” and that, in his second trial, he
testified that “[t]hese guys go take my money.” Petitioner
stated that “theft of property from the person of another is a
Class C felony,” and HRS § 707-720 (1993) with respect to

kidnapping states that

[a] person commits the offense of kidnapping if the person
intentionally or knowingly restrains another person with
intent to: :
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(c) Facilitate the commission of a felony or flight

thereafter;
(d) Inflict bodily injury upon that person or
subject that person to a sexual offense; [or]
(e) Terrorize that person or a third person(.]

(Emphasis added.)

Petitioner stated that “[i]n his.case, for both trials,
the court gave the following definition of kidnapping, which
covered oniy [HRS § 707-720(d) and HRS § 707-720(e)]: “'‘A person
commits kidnapping if he intentionally or knowingly restrains -
another person with intent to inflict bodily injury upon that
person or terrorize that person.’” Petitioner argued that the
court’s instruction was plainly erroneous because the instruction
did not cover HRS § 707-720(c) relating to the commissioﬁ of a
felony.

It does not appear that the ICA addressed Petitioner’s
argument regarding an allegedly erroneous definition of
kidnapping, nor did Respondent address this issue in its
memorandum in opposition. Petitioner did not object to the
court’s kidnapping instruction-at trial. Additionally,
Petitioner acknowledged in his Reply Brief that “[t]lhis specific
argument was not raised as a point of error in the opening
brief.” Thus, we are not obligated to address Petitioner’s
argument regarding the court’s purportedly erroneous kidnapping
instruction. See In re Hawaiian Flour Mills, Inc., 76 Hawai‘i 1,
14 n.5, 868 P.2d 419, 432 n.5 (1994) (holding that arguments

raised for the first time in the reply briefs on appeal were
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deemed waived) (citation omitted); Hawai‘i Rules of Appellate
Procedure Rule 28(d) (2005) (providing that “[t]he reply brief
shall be confined to matters p<ns1:XMLFault xmlns:ns1="http://cxf.apache.org/bindings/xformat"><ns1:faultstring xmlns:ns1="http://cxf.apache.org/bindings/xformat">java.lang.OutOfMemoryError: Java heap space</ns1:faultstring></ns1:XMLFault>